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SEC Filing Desk
Securities & Exchange Commission
450 5th Sirest, NW

" Washington, D.C., 20549

Re: PBHG Fund (File No. 811-04391)
Filing Pursuant to Section 33 of the Investrment Company Act of 1940

Dear Sir or Madam:

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 33 of the Investment Company Act of 1940,
attached please find a copy of the complaint filed in the United States District Court for the
Middle District of Flonda, Tampa Division, in the lawsuit entitled Menyhart v.Pilgrim Baxter &
Associates, Ltd,, et. al. Pilgrim Baxter & Associates, Ltd. is a registered investment adviser and
affiliated person of PBHG Funds, a registered investment company.

Also enclosed please find a copy of this leiter for our records. Please date-stamp
the copy and return it to me at the address listed above.

Sincerely,
Ryan M. Ort
RMO/o PROCESSED
Attachments -
‘ JUL 08 2004
cc:  John Zerr, Esq.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA - TAMPADIVISION . _ .

OLGA MENYHART,

t=4db  F.LUJI/VIe

r=ied
ND.138 e8

Platutiffs,
CASENO. 8:04-cv-1157-T-27M5S

V.

PILGRIM BAXTER & ASSOCIATES, LTD.,
PBHG FUND DISTRIBUTORS,
and PBHG FUND SERVICES,

Defepdagts.

TO: Pilgrim Baxter & Associates, LTD.
Attr: Mark John Zerr or General Counsel
1400 Liberty Ridge Drive
Wayne, PA 19087

. YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED snd required to serve upon PLAINTIFF'S ATTORNEY

Guy M. Bums
Becky Ferreli-Anton
Johnson, Pope, Bokor, Ruppel & Buras, LL.P.
P. 0. Box 1100
" Tampa, FL 33607

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL CASE v s oo o

an angwer to'the complaint which is herewith, served upon you, within 20 days aftey service of this summons upon you,
exclasive of the day of service. If you fail to do so, judgment by defant will be teken against you for the relief. demanded in
the complaint, You xonst also file your answer with the Clerk of this Court within & reasonable period of time after service.
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1 : : ) RETURN OF SERVICE °

Service of the Summians and Complaint was made by me

DATE

NAME OF SERVER ((PRINT) i , .| TITLE

Check one box below 1o indicate appropriate method of seg:ﬂ'ce

[] setved personally upon the defendant. Place where served;

D Left copies thereof at the defendant's dwelling house or usual place of abode with a person of suitable
age and discretion then residing therein. :
Name of person with whom the summons and complaint were left:

D Retumed ungxecuted:

[ ] other (specify);

STATEMENT OF SERVICE FEES

TRAVEL SERVICES TOTAL

DECLARATION OF SERVER

[ declare under penatty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing
information cohtained in the Return of Service and Statement of Service Fees is true and correct.

Executed on

Date Signature of Server

Address of Server

9850375013
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT.
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF ¥LORIDA .
TAMPA DIVISION . *gj-’ A -
' oYev #5127 - 5.
OLGA MENYHART ¥ 04 s goc B .5
Plsintff 2= B 3
sintif a5
- =2 E R
v. Case No. Bt R Pl
22 =
PILGRIM BAXTER & ASSOCIATES, L2
LTD., PBHG FUND DISTRIBUTORS, and
PBHGFUNDSERWCES
Defendzuts.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Olga Menyhart, for the use and bepefit of the PBHG Growth Fund and the

PBHG Emerging Growth Fund, sues Defendants Pilgrim Baxtes & Associates, Lid., PBHG
Fund Distibutors, 20d PRHG thd Services, aud afleges:

1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
. .

This action is a derivative action brought by Plaintiff on behslf of fhe PBHG
Growth Fund and the PBHG Emerging Growth Fund (collectively, the “Funds”) pursnant to

§8 36(b) and 12(b) of the Fnvestment Company Act of 1940 (ICA”), as amended, 15 U.S.C
§5 30a-35(b) and 80a-12(b).

2.

This Couwrt has subjest matter jusisdiction'pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 802-43, 15
U.S.C. § 80a-35(b)(5), and 28 US.C, § 1331

3.

Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuamt to 15 U.S.C. § 80a-43 and 28
U.S.C. § 1391(B)}(2)-(3). Defendants are inhabitants of or transact business in this district, a

substantial part of the events or omissions that give rise to Plaintiffs claims occurred in s
district, and Defendants may be found in this district.
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! 4. All conditions precedent have been performed or have occurred.
| - | I. BACKGROUND

5. Plaintdf is a sharcholder in the Funds, which are opem-end registered
investment compamies, or mutnal fupds, created, sold, advised, and maﬁaged with other
ﬂlﬂés as part of a fund family or complex by Defendants (the “Fupd Complex™ or the
“PBHG Complex™). Defaqdants, as the underwriters, distributors, advisors, and comtrol
persops of the Funds, owe fiduciary and other duties to ¥laintiff and all shareholders of the

fitnds in the Fand Complex.

6.  Plaintiff and the ofher shareholders of fhe Funds pay Defendants fees for

providing pure investment advisory services and administrative services. These fees are

. based on apefcentage of the pet assets of cach of the Funds. Defendants charge separate fees
for the pure investment advisory serviees and the adm:mstrairve services. | |

7. The puw invesu:gxent advisory services Defendants provide to .tbe Funds are-

« identical to the itvestuent advisory services Defendants or their affiliates provide to other
clients, such as instimtional clients, and entafl identical costs. In fact, the cost of advisors,
analysts, Tesearch data, the physical plant, énd other aspects of Defendants’ investment
advisory services aze shared betweén the mutual fimds and the other clients.

8, ° Despite the eguivalence of the investment advisory services Defendants
provide to the Funds and the other cliems, the fees Defendants receive from the Funds for
pure investment advisory sexvices are much higher than the fees Defendants ox their affiliates
receive from other clients for the identical services,

9. Defendants also charge distmbution fees for marketing, selling, and

distributing mutual fund shares o mew sharsholders pursuant to distribution plans that
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Defendants have adopted with respect to the Funds pursuant to Rule 12b-], 17 CFR. §
270.12b-1 (“Distribution Plans™). The distribution. fees are based on a percentage of the net
‘assets of each of the Funds. Defendants purportedly collect these fees in order to grow or
stabilize the assers of the Funds so that the Funds can benefit from economies ‘of scale
through reduced advisory fees.
Section 36(b) of the Investment Company Act of 1940
10.  In 1940, Congress enacted the Investment Company Act of 1940,15 U.S.C. §
803-1 et seq, (the "ICA™). The ICA was designed to regulate and crob abuses in the wutuzl
S ‘-._.‘.«‘.l.'.'ff¥ﬁmd mdustry apd to greate standards of care apphcabla 10 mvesunent admst)rs such as
Defendants In the 19605, it became clear to Congress that invesiwent advisors to equity .-
mrtual funds were gouging those funds with excessive fees, particularly by not taking
ecopomies of scale info account. As a result, § 36(b), 15 U.S.C., § 80a-35(b), was added to
the ICA in 1970, which cregted a federal cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty,
11.  Section 36(b) provides in pertinent part:
[Tlhe mvestment adviser of a registered investment company shall be
deemed to have a fidueiary duty with respect to the receipt of
conipensation for services, or of payments of a material nature, paid by
such registered investment company, or by the .Security bholders
‘thereof, to such investment adviser or any affiliated person of such
investment adviser. An action may be brought mmder this subsection
by the Commission, or by a security holder of such registered
investment compeny on behalf of such company, against such
investment advisers, or an affiliated person of such investment advisor,
or any other person enumerated in subsection (8) of this section who
has a fiduciary duty concetning such compensation or payments, for
bresch of fiduciary duty in respect to such compensation or paymeunts
paid by such registered investment company or by the security holde:rs
thereof to such investment adviser or person. .
12. In the past decade, the assets managed by Defendants within the Fund

Compleg have grown dramatically. In 1993, the Fund Complex (exchuding money market
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funds) had $1.03 billion in average net assets; by 2003, the fund had grown t§ pearly $3.54
billion in average pet assets, an increase of more than three times. Meanwhile, advisory fees
for the Fimd Complex (excluding money magket funds) increased ﬁ'om $8.53 million (or
0.83% of assets) in 1993 t6 $30.34 million (or 0.86% of assets) in 2003. Effectively no
economies of scale or incremental savings were realized by the investor in spite of the Fund’s
dramatic growth,

13.  While the Funds have grown dramatically in size, the nature of the services
rendered by Defendants hes changed little, if at all Indeed, advamces in computing and
commumcauon technologies in the past twenty years have resulted im expomential

. efficiencies that bave drarpatically rednced the costs of servicing mutnal funds in Ways
Congress could pot have imagined when it enacted ICA § 36('b). Nonﬁthsl&cs,. the
distribution and advisory fees paid to Defendants have grown dramatically. As a result, the
advisory fees paid to Defendants (and accepted by them in violaton of their statutory
fiduciary duties) are diép:cporﬁonately large in relaﬂonship to the services rendereﬁ to
Plaintiff. -

14.  In addition, Defendants, in violation of their fiduoiary duties to Plaintiff, have
retained EX0ess profits resulting from economies of scale. These economies of scale are a
product of the dramatic growth in assets managed by Defendamts, camsed I part by
marketing programs paid for with the distribution fees charged to Plaintiff and the other
shareholders and in part by Defendants’ ability to provide the idenfical investment advisory
services they provide Plaintiff to other clients at little or no additional cost. The excess

- profits resulting from these economies of scale belong to Plaintiff and the other sharebolders

of the Funds.
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1. The fees paid to Defendants arc technically approved by the Funds® boards of
directors.! A majority of the Funds’ boards are comprised of statutorily presumed
“disinterested” directors as that term is defined in § 10 of the ICA. Regardless of whether
these presumably “disiumrcst:cd” directors meet the requirements of § 10 of the ICA, there is
a lack of conscientiousness by the dixectors in reviewing the advisory and distribution fees
paid by each of the Funds, In addition, even if statutorily disinterested, the directors ave in all
practical respects dominated and unduly influenced by Defendants in reviewing the fees paid

R by Plaintiff and the other shareholders of the Funds. fn paznmﬂar Defendants do not prowde 4
the directors with sufficient information for the directors to fulfill their obligations, a factor
supporting a findi_ng that Defendants have breached their fiduciary duties.

16.  Although the fees challenged in this lawsuit may appear to the Court to be
very small on a shareholdﬂ-by—shareholyder. basis, they cause a dramatic decrease in
Plaintiff's investment returns over time. Arthur Levitt, past Chairmen of the Securities and
Exchenge Commission (“SEC™), was critical of what he called the “tyranny of compounding
high costs™ -

Instinct tells we that many investors would be shocked to know bow
seetningly small fees can over time, create such drastic erosion-in
retarns. ... In the vears abead, what will rowtual fund investors say if
they reahze too late their returns have fallen hard under the weight of
compounding fees?
Arthur Levitt, Jr., Inaugural address: Costs Paid with Other People’s Money, Address at
Fordham Univers;ty School of Law (Nov. 3, 2000), in 6 Fordham J. Corp. & Fin. L. 261, 267

(2001).

{ While the Funds at issue here are technically govemned by s board of trustees rather than direstors, the
term ¥directars” is used throughout the complaint and should be read as synonymous with “trugtees,” as it is

under the TCA. Se2 15 US.C,, § 80a-2(=2){12).
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Rule 12b-1 Distribution Pians
17.  Prior to 1980, the use of fund assets (which are owned by the shareholders) to
sell new fund ghares was prokibited. The SEC had historically been reluctant to allow find
advisers to charge their shareholders for selling shares to gthers:
| [The cost of selling and purchesing sutual fimd shaxes should be
bome by the mvestors who purchase them and thus presumably
receive the benefits of the investment, and not, even 1o part, by the
existing sharcholders of the fmd who often dexive little or no benefit
‘ from the sale of new shares. ‘
Statement on the Futurc Structure of the Securities Markets, [Feb. 1972) Sec, Reg. & L. Rep.
(BNAJNo, 137 pt. I, st 7. |
18.  After intense lobbying by the mutual fund industry, the Commission agreed to
consider modifying its objections to allow current fund shareholders to pay disttibution
expenses. In early comment letters and in proxy statements pmposing adoption of plans of
distribution, the mu@ fond industry argued ﬁmt adding assets to an existing mumal fund
would create ecopomies of scale that would allow the advisers to provide the same qné]ity
amd vature of services to mutal find shareholders at dramaticaily lower costs.

19, Accepting the mutual fund industry’s argument that a growth in assets would

~Jead to- & quid pro quo reduction in advisory fees and other expenses, the Commission

tentatively. approved Rule 12b-], 17 C.F.R, § 270.12b-1. However, oumerous conditions
were attached to the use of fund assets to pay distribution expenses. For example, the
Commission wanted to be certain that investment advisers would not “extract additional

compensatian for advisory services by excessive distributions under a 12b-1 plan.” Meyer v.

Oppenieimer Munagement Corp., 895 F.2d 861, 866 (2d Cir. 1990). Unfortunately, that is

precisely what Defendagits have done: extracted additional compensation for their retsil

reg
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advisory services by causing Plain?iff and the other shareholders to pay Defendants’
marketing expenses to acquire new shareholders so that thess new shareholders could pay
additional advisory fees to Defendants, Under this regime, Defendants get the financial
bepefit, and the shareliolders of the Funds bear the finsacial burden.

20.  Defendants have adopted 12b-1 Distribution Plans for the Funds. Thésc
Distribution Plans must be reviewed anmally by the Funds’ directors. In particular, the
directors must “request and e;valuate . . . such information as may reasonably be necessary to
eu informed decision of whether such plan should be implemented or contimued.” 17 CFR.
§ 270.12b-1(d). In addition, minutes must be meaintained to record all aspects of the
directors’ deliberation, and the directors must conclude “in light of their fiduciary duties
under state law and under Sections 36(g) and (b) of the ICA, that there is a reasonable
likelihood that the Distribution Plans will benefit the company and its shareholders.” 17
CFR. §270.126-1(¢).

21.  Despite the dramatic grovnh in assets managed by Defendants, both the
advisory and distribution fees charged by Defendants have grown, both 1 terms of ﬁvhole

doliars and as a percentage of assets. Accordingly, the Distribution Plans have produced

'little of o ecconomies-of-scale benefits to the shareholders of the Funds. Rather, the

Distribution Plans have served only Defendants, just as the Corumission feared when it found

- tligt “the use of mutual fond assets to finance distdbution activities would benefit mainly the

management of a mutual fund rather then its shareholders, and therefore that such use of fund
assets’ should not be permitted.” Beariug of Distribution Expenses by Mutual Funds,

Tuvestment Company Act Release No. 9915, 1977 SEC LEXIS 943 (Aug. 31, 1977). As

wBL
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such, the Distribution Plans violate the intent and purpose of Rule 12b-1 .and'are entirély a
waste of find assets,

22, Furihemmore, the distibution fees are based on the net asset va.'lue'of the Funds
and not on the distribution activity, if ény, by Defeudants, such as number of sha'res sold.
Acéo:dingly, in addition to failing to bepefit Plaintiff and the other sharcholders, the
Distribution Plaus have exwacted additional compensation for advisory services 1o
Defendanis, thereﬁy resulting in excessive fées paid to them, ‘For example, any ;;ortion of the
fees paid 1o Defendants that are derived from warket increases in the net asset value of the
find rather than any distribution activity by Defendants constitates additional and excessive
compensation for advisory services. |

23,  Despite the fact that Plaintiff and the other sharcholders of the Funds have
enjoyed 1o benefits from fhe Distubution Plans, even though they comtributed to the growth
of fund assets by paying dxstnbuuon fees, and despxte the fact that the Distribution Plans

have allowed Defendants to extraci additional and excessive compensation from Plaim:iﬁ‘ and

the other shareholders of the Funds, the directors of the Fimds have continued to approve,

vear after year, contimation of the Distribution Plans in violation of both Rule 12b-] and §

36(b).
Nature of Claims

24.  In this action, Plaintiff secks to rescind the iuvestment advisory agreements

- and Distribution Plans and to recover the total fees cha:g;d by Defendants or, aliernatively,

to recover the excess profits resulting from economies of scale wrongfully retained by

Defendanis and to recaver other excessive compensation received by, or fmproper payments

wrongfully retrined by, Defendants in breach of their fiduciary duty wnder the ICA. § 36(b),

81
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15 U.8.C. § 80a-35(b). Because the conduct complained of herein is continuing in natre,
Plaintiff seeks. recovery for a period commencing at the earliest date in light of any
gpplicable statute of limitations through the date of final judgment afier frial. |
25.  No pre-suit demand on the board of directors of the Funds is required, as the
requirements of FR.CP. 23.1 do not apply to actions under § 36(b) of the ICA. Daily '
Income Fund v, Fox, 464 U.8, 523 (1984).
26.  Plaintiff does not allege or seck relief for any claims based upon improper
market timing or late trading activity involving the Funds,
IL PARTIES
27, Plaintff Olga Menyhart is a resident of Tampa, Florida and a shareholder at
~~~~~ -~ = gll televant times of the PRHG Growth Fund and the PBHG Emerging Growth Fund. The
Funds are separate series of the PBHG Funds, which is an open-end, management investment
company registered nnder the Investment Company Act of 1940 and is a Delaware business.
. tust.

28. Defendmnt Pilztim Baxtet & Associates, Ltd. (“Pilgrim Baxter™), is a
Delaware corporation and a registered investment adviser under the Investment Company
Actof 1940. Pilprim Baxter is the jovestment advisor to the Funds.

29.  Defendant PBHG Fund Distributors is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Pilgrim
Baxter and a Pennsylvania business ttust PBHG Fund Distrbutors is a registered
broker/dealer and is the distritutor of the Funds. .

' " 30. Defeadant PBHG Fund Services is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Pilgrim
Baxter and a Penmsytvapia business trust, PBHG Fund Services is the administrator of the

Funds.
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| IV. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
31,  The test for determining whether comﬁénsaﬁon paid to Defendsnts violates §
36(b) is “essentially whether the fee schedule represents a charge within the range of what
would have been negotiated at arm’s-length in the light of all of the sunouﬁdiﬁg
circumstances.” Gartenberg v. Merrill Lynch Asset Management, Inc., 694 F2d 923, 928
(24 Cir. 1982). In order to violate § 36(b), “the advisor-manager must charge a fee that is so
disproportionately large that it bears no reasonable relationship to the services rendered and

* could not bave been the product of amm’s-length bargaining.™ Jd,
32. In applying this fest, all pertinemt facts mwmst be \utﬁginyi in determining
‘whether a fee or othet comperisation violates § 36(b). The Gurrenberg court specifically
" jdentified six factors (a portion of “all pertinent facts”) to be considered in determining
whether a fee s so disproportionately large that it bears no reasonable relationship to the
" services rendered. These factors include: (1) the nature and quality of the services rendered;
(2) the profitability of the funds to the advisor/max'iager; (3) economies of scale; (4)
comparative fee structures; (5) fallout benefits (i.e. indirect profits to the advisor/mavaget
resnltivg from the existence of the funds; and (6) the care and conscientiouspess of the
directors. A review of these factors, and the facts in. this‘ case, demonstrates that the fees

charged by Defendants to the Funds violaie § 36(b). -
(1) The Nature. and Quality of the Services Provided to the Funds

. 33, The npature -of the investlﬁent advisory services provided to the Funds is
straightforward: Defendants buy and sell, at'thm'r discretion, stocks, bonds, and other
securities for the Funds. This is precisely the same service provided to Defendants’

institutional and other clients (albeit at & dramatically lower cost). On information snd belief,

10
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the materials provided by Defendants to the directors of the Funds establish ﬂm‘t the natuxe of -
the services Defepdants render to the Funds has remained wmchanged despite dramatic
growth in the assets of the Funds and advisory revenues.

o Despite the fact that the Punds receive idettical investment advisory services
as Defendants’ institutional and other clients, upon information and belief, Plaintiff and the
other shareholders of the Fumds pay Defendants dramatically lngher fees becanse these fees
are not pegotiated at exm’s length as they are with the instinrtional and other clients. This
disparity in fees evinces Defendants’ willingness and determination to prefer their owa
financial interests to the interests of the Funds and the shareholders of the Funds.

35.  Upon information ax;d belief, Defendants repeatedly put their own ﬁnancml
interests ahead of the imterests of the Funds 2ud the sharehélders of the Fumds by
participating in arrangements and schemes that benefit Defendants at the expepse of the
Funds and the shareholders of the Funds. The cost of this conflict of interest, which does not
exist in the case of the arm’s.-length relationships with institutional clients, is manifest not
only in higher fees, but In other Josses and expenses borne by the Funds and the shareholders
of the Funds. These losses and expenses directly impact the quality of the invéstment
-advism}' services Defendants provide to the Funds,

36. Upon information and belief, an examwple of Defendants’ willingness and
determination to prefer their own financial interests to the interests of the Funds and
shareholders of the Funds is Defendants’ imvolvement in illegal uses of fund assets to attraot
additional business. For instance, Defendants use 1Zb-1 fees provided by the retail fund
shareholders to atizact non-xetail clients that bemefits from certain considerations (such as fee

rebates) at the expense of the retail fimd shareholders, Another example is where Defendants

11
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use ﬂmd.assets, in violation of Rule 12Zb-1, to perticipate in pay-to-play schemes. For
instance, pursuanf to an amrangement commounly referred to as | “directed brokerage,”
Defendants divect the Funds” brokerage business to brokerage fiums and pay them above-
market rates to promote Defendants” mutal funds over other funds sold by the brokerage
s, ,

! ' {2) The Profitability of the Fund to the Adviser/Manager

37.  “[Tjhe ‘proftability of the fund to the advisér’ [must] be studied in order that
the price peid by the fund to its advisér be equivalent to ‘the product of ;mn’s—le:ngth

bareaini g."” See John P. Freeman & Stewart L. Brown, Mutual Fund Advisory Fees: The

! Cost of Conflicts of Interest, 26 Y. Corp L. 610, 661 (2001) (the “Freeman & BroWn‘Smdy”)
(citing Gartenberg) [Ex. 1]. The profitability of 2 fumd to an adviser-manager is a function of
revenues winus the costs of providing services. However, upon information and beljef,
Defendants' reporting of thejr revenue and- costs is intended tv, and dom obfuscate
Defendants' true profitability. For instance, upon information and belief, Defendants employ
ipaccurate accomnting practices in their financial reporting, including arbitraty apd
unreasonable cost alfocations. | ‘

38.  Defendants' true pmﬁl‘abilit-y can be detmmmed on either an incremental basis
or a full-cost hasis. Defendants’ ineremental cog;m of providing advisdry services o Plaintiff
are nominal while the additional fees received by Defendamts are hugely disproportionate
giw‘en that the naﬁ:re, quality, and level of the services remain the same. On information and
belief, a review of Defendants’ full costs of providing advisory services will also demensirate

the enormous profitability to Defendants of managing the Fands.

12
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(3) Economies of Scale

39. The exstence of economies of scale in the muniual fimd industry has been
recently confirmed by both the SEC and the Goveramental Accounting Office (the “GAO”).
Both conducted in-depth studies of mutual fund fees in 2000, and both concluded that
_cconomies. of scale exist in the provision of advisory services. See SEC Di\{ision of
Tnvestment Management: Report om Mutual Fund Fees and Expenses (Dec. 2000) (*SEC
Report”), at 3031 [Ex. 2); GAO, Report on Mutyal Fund Fees to the Chairman,

 Subeommittee on Finance and Hazardous Materials; and the Ranking Member, Comaittee
on Commerce, House of Representatives (June 2000) (“GAO Report™), at 9 [Ex. 3.

40, In addition, the most significant academic research undertaken since tlhe
Whatton School stody in the 1960s establishes the existence of economies-of scale that are
ot being passed along to mmutual fund shareholders in violation of Defendants® duty to do 5o
under § 36(b) end Rule 12b-1. Seg Freeman & Brown Study” [Ex. 1]. As the Freeman &
Brown Study noted: “The existence of economies of scale has betn admitted in SEC ﬁlmgs

- made by fund mamagers and is implicit in the industry’s frequent use of fee rates that
decrease 85 assets under management increase. Fund induswy il&vestment TOADRZETS are
proze to cite economies of scale as justification for business combinations.” Id. at 620 [Ex.
1. '

41.  These economies of scale exist not only fund by fund but also exist with
respect to an entire fimd complex and even with respect to an jnvestoent advisor's entire
scope of operations, including services provided to institutional and. other clients. See
Freeman & Brown Stmdy at 621 n.62 (quoting Victoria E. Schonfeld & Thomas M.J. Kexwm,

Organization of 8 Mutual Fund, 49 Bus. Law 107 (1993)) [Ex. 1].
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42.  The clearest example of economies of scale ocours when total assets under
manage:ﬁent increase due purely to market forces (\iiithnut the institution of new advisory
relationships or new asset gathéﬁng). In such instances, as the GAO confirms, it is possible |
for the advisor to service the additional assets with zero additional costs, See GAO Report at |
9 (noting that growth from portfolio appreciation s unaccompanted by costs) [Ex. 3], In
other words, an investn;wnt advisor can advise a fund that doubles in size purely because of
market forces with no incressed costslbecause the services are unchanged. See GAQ Report
at 9 [Ex. 3]; Freeman & Brown Study at 619 .43, 621 (noting that investment advisors have
benefited by gamering “increased fees from the general increase in market prices ﬁith no
commcnsuraté efforts on their part” and also noting that as much as §4% of mutual fund asset
growth has come fom appreciation of portfolio securities, which, unlike growth from share
sales to new investors, is costless) [Ex. 1].

43. From 1993 through 2003, the assets under rmanagemest in the PBHG
Complex (excluding money market fimds) grew from $1.03 billion to $3.54 billion, a growth
rate of 343.7%. However, thic pbenomens] growth in rowtia) fund assets .not only produced
10 economies of scale, but fees acmally increased faster than the growth i assets, Fees went
From $8.53 million in 1993 1o $30.34 million in 2003, a growth rate of 355.7%. In addition,
fees as a percentage of assets éncreasad from 83 basis points in 1993 to 86 basis points in
2003, The foregoing figures make & mockery of the concept of economies of scale.

44.  The eccnomiies of scale enjoyed by Defeadants with respect to the Funds have

. not been shamd with Plaintiff and the other shareholders as required by § 36(b) and Rule
12b-1. As a result, the fees p;a.id to Defendants for advisory services provided to the Funds

* are grossly disproportionate to those services, are excessive, and violate § 36(b).

14
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(4) Comparative Fee Sb-:-z&wes

45, | The fees advisors receive from mutual funds for iavestment advisory services
ate directly comparable to, though much higher than, the fees advisors receive from other
cﬁants for the jdenticsl services. As the Freeman & Brown Study noted: "None of the
leading advisory fee cases, imvolved equity fimds, and hé;mc, none of the courts were
confrorted . directly with the strong emalogies ﬁlﬂ:t- can be drawn between equity advisory-
services in the fond industry as compared 1o the pension field where prices are notably
lower.” Freeman & Brown Study at 653 [Ex. 1]. While a “mnanager may encounter different
levels of fixed and variable research costs depending on the type of the portfolic, . . . the
findamental management process is essentially the same for large and small portfolios, as
well as for pension funds and mutua] funds. The portfolio owner’s identity (pension fund
varsus mutual fund) should not logically provide a reason for portfolio management costs
being higher or lower,” Freemsn & Brown Study at 627-28 [Ex. 1]. Indeed, “a mutual fund,

as ap entity, actually is an institutional investor. When it comes to fee dismpancieé, the

difference betweeﬁ funds and other iﬁsﬁmﬁonal investors does not furn on ‘institutional
status,” 1t turns on self dealing and conflict of interest.” Fresman & Brown Study at 629 n.93
[Bx. 1]. Accordingly, the.‘““apples-to-apples’ fec comparisons between equity pemsion
managers and equity fond maiagers can be most diffieult and embamassing for those selling
advicé to mutual ftm ? Freeman & Brown Study at 671-72 -[Ex. 11.

46. Mo;‘e recently, New York’s Attorney General surveyed two find complexes
and confirmed the existenee of massive over-charging of fund advisory fees. Specifically,
Mr. Spitzer testified before a Senate Subcomnmittes on Jannary 27, 2004, as follows:

Putnam’s mirtnal find mvestors were charged 40 percent more
for advisory services than Putmare’s institutional investors. In dollar

15
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I terms, what this fee disparity means is that in 2002 Putnam mutual
- fund investors paid $290 million more in advisory fees than they
! would have paid had they been charged the rafe given to Putnam’s
‘ institutiona} clients, and these are for identical services. .

There was a similar disparity in the advisory fees charged by
Alliance. Once again, mutual fimd investors were charged
significantly higher advisory fees than institutional investors.
Specifically, Alliance’s mutual fimd imvestors paid advisory fees that
were twice those paid by institational investors. In dollar terms, this
means that Alliance investors paid more than $200 million more in
‘ advisory fees than they would bave paid had they been charged the
r rate given, to Alliance’s institutional clients. ,

47. On information and belief, the sharcholders of the Funds at issue here are
:4 plagued by the same discriminatory over-charging by Defendants as the sharehiolders of the
finds mentioded by Mr. Spitzer in his Sepate te.stimcmy. The Defendants and thejr affiliates
routinely oﬁ'crl their services to institutional and other clients for fees much lower than the
iovestment advisory felxes they charge the Funds. Tndeed, a number of relevant comparative
fee structures clearly establish that Defendants are charg:;ng advisory fees to the Funds that

are disproportionate to the value of the services rendered. For example:

a.  Pilgrim Beoxter acts as sub-adviser to the Atlas Value Fund for a fee of
40% of net assets under $50 million; .35% of net assets from $50 million to $250
million; and .30% of net assets in excess of $250 million. By way of contrast,.under
this fee schedule, tﬁe-PBHG Growth Fund would pay an advisory fee of only 31.4
basis points rather them the 85 basis points it currently pays.

b. Pilgrim Baxter acts as sub-adviser to the Transamerica IDEX PBHG
Mid Cap Growth Fund for a fee of .50% of net assets up to $100 million and .40% of

net assets over $100 mition. By way of contrast, undey this fee schedule, the PBHG

16
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Growth Fund wonld pay an advisory fee of onlly 41 basis points rather than the 85
basis points it currently pays. ' |
c. Pilgrim Baxter acts as sub-adviser to the ASAF PBHG Smali-Cap

Growth Fund for a fee of .50% of net assets up 1o $100 million; .45% of net assets

between $100 mwillion and $400 million; .40% of net assets between $400 million and

$900 million; and .35% of net assets over $900 million. By way of contrast, under

this fee schedule, the PBHG Growth Fund would pay an advisory fee of only 41.7

basis potuts rather than the 85 basfs points it currently pays. ‘

| (5) Fallout Benefits

48.  Defendants indirectly profit because of the existence of the Funds through
fallout benefits. Obvious, bui difficult to quantfy faflout benefits include the attraction of
pew customers, cross selling related funds to current customers, and other benefits associated
genetally with the development of goodwill and the growth in assets of the Funds.

49.  Other, easier to quantify, benefits include “soft dollars” payabie from broker-
dealers. Essentially, “soft dollars” are credits furnished to Defendants from broker-dealers
and other securities-jndustry firms in exchange for touting the Funds’® securities transaction
orders and other business to paying firms. These soft-dollar credits should be used to
purchase research and other goods or services that benefit the shareholders of the Fuuds. On
information and belief, however, the soft-dollar arangements benefit Defendants and result
in increased costs 1o the shareholders of the Funds with litfle to no commesponding benefits to
the shamhold&s of the Funds. On information and belief, the goft dollar arrangements are

concealed from the shareholders of the Funds in breach of Defendents’ fiduciary duty,

17
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50, On information and belief, Defendants also receive “ldckb'ac N Either
directly or indirectly, as transfer agency and custodian fees grow due to increasés in the
assets of the Funds aod the number of sharsholders, -

51, On information and belief, Defendants receive firther fallout benefits from
securities lending arrangements. Essentially, Defendants Ioan out the secrities of the Funds
and receive compensation as the lending agents of the Funds.

52, A highly h profitable fallo-ut benefit to Defendants is the abjlity to sell

investment advisory services paid for by the Funds at virtually no additional cost. Muach like
comptter software, once the investment research a.nd msxﬂﬁng recommeﬁdations are pa'id for,
that research and those recoumendations may be so0ld to other clients at virtually no cn-st
whatsoever to Defendants. Without payment by Plaintiff and the other shareholders of the
Tunds of millions of dollars in advisory and distribution fees (especially distribution fees that
are nothing more than & means o extract additional compensation for advisory services),
Defendants would have to pay to condnct that mea.rch. independcnﬂy in arder to prc;vidc
investment advisory services to ofher clients, including institutionsl cliepts. This is a natural
byproduet of the extraordinary economies of sca.le inherent jo the investment advisory
business. However, although Plaintiff and the other shareholders of the Funds pay. all of the
costs associated with the jnvestment advisory services, Defendants resell these services to
third parties withowt compensating Plaintiff through reduced fees or in amy other way.

53. On Momaﬁm and belief, Defendants do not provide sufficient information
regarding the existence and extent of these and other fallout benefits to the shareholders of
the Funds ot to the Funds’ directors, The directors are thus unable to quaniify or even

- n;eanmgﬁlﬂy cousider the benefits. Plaintiff and the other sharcholders of the Funds have

18
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paid for these benefits and are entitled to compensation in the form of reduced advisory fees
and the e}iminaﬁoﬁ of distribution fees,
(6} The Independence and Conscientiousness of the Directors

54, At least 40% of the Funds’ directors must be “disinterested” as defined in § 10
of the ICA. As the GAO Report noted, the structure of most mutual fimds embodies a
potential conflict of interest between the fund’s shareholders and its adviser. This conflict
anises becanse the fees paid by the shareholders represent revenue to the adviser, The United
States Supreme Court hes stated - that the disinterssied-director requirement js “the
comerstone of the ICA’s efforts to comtrol” this conflict of interest. Burks v. Lasker, 441
U.S. 471 (1979).

55. The disinterested directors are supposed to serve as “watchdogs” for the
shareholders of the Punds. As such, the disinterested directors have primary responsibility
for, among many other things, negotiating and approving all contracts and agreements with _
Defendants and reviewing the reasonableness of the advisory and distributién fees received
by Defendants. Accordingly, as noted by the GAO, the directors are expected to review,
among other things, the advisor's costs, %ether fees have been reduced when the Funds’
assets have grows, and the foes charged for similar services. Soo GAO Report at 14 [Ex. 31

| " These responsibilities are intensivé, requiting the directors to rely on information mﬁded
by Defendants. Dcfendanm, in tmn, have a fiduciary duty to provide all information
reasonably necessary for the directors to perform themr obligatiqns. See 15 U.S.C., § 80a~

15(c); 17 C.F.R. § 270.12b-1.
56 The JCA contains a presumption that the disimterested directors are in fact

disinterested. However, the lack of conseientiousness of even disinterested ditectors in
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xewewmg the fees paid by the Funds, the lack of adequate information pmvzded to the
directors in comnection with their approvals of the advisory agreements apd Distribution
Plans, and the control of management over the directors in reviewing the fees paid by the
Funds are not presumed but, rather, are important factors recognized in the Gm'terzberg line
of cases in determining whether Defendants have breached their fiduciary duties, In
addition, the SEC has specifically recognized that cven disinterested directors may not be
independent but, rather, way be subject to domination or undue inﬂuence: by -a fund’s
investment adviser. For example, the SEC has stated that “disinderested directors should not
be entrusted with a decision on use of fand assets for distribution without receiving the
benefit of measures designed to enhance their ability to act independently.” Beaﬁng'of
Distribution Expenses by Mutual Funds, Investment Co. Act Rel. No. 11414, 1980 SEC
LEXIS 444 at #36 (Oct. 28, 1980).

57.  Two poteworthy indusiry insiders have commented on the general failnre of
prutual fund boards to fulfill their responsibilities under the ICA. Jack Bogle, founder of the
Vanguard Group, made the following comment:

Well, fund dixectors are, or at least to a very major extent,
sort of a bad joke. They've watched industry fees go up year after
year, they've added 12b-1 fees. I think they've forgotten, maybe
they've never been told, that the law, the Investment Company
Act, says they're required to put the interest of the fund

shareholders ahead of the interest of the find adviser. It's simply
impossible for me to see how they could have ever measured up

to that mandate, or are measuring up to it

Warren Buffet, famous investor and chairman of Berkshire Hathaway, made the following
comment, which was recently quoted by a United States District Coust: '
1 think independent directors have been anything but independent.

The Tnvestment Company Act, in 1940, made these provisions for
_independent directors om the theory that they would be the
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watchdogs for all these people pooling their money. The
behavior of independent directors in aggregate since 1940 has
been to rubber stamgp every deal that's come along from
management—whether management was good, bad, or
indifferent. Not negotiate for fee reductions and 50 on. A long
tirme ago, an attorney said that in selecting directors, the
management compamies were looking for Cocker Spaniels and
not Dobermans. I'd say they found a Jot of Cocker Spaniels out
there. Strougo v. BEA Assoc., 188 F. Supp2d 373, 383 (SD.N.Y.
2002) (citation omitted).

Mr. Buffet has also stated, in his letter to sharsholders in the 2002 Berkshire
Hathaway, Inc. anmual report:

[A] monkey will type out a Shekespeare play before an
"independent” mutual-fund director will suggest that his fund ook
; at other mapagers, even if the incumbent manager has persistently
: delivered substandard performance. When they are handbing their
: own money, of course, directors will look to alternative advisors —
but it never enters their minds to do $o when they are acting as
fiduciznies for others. . . . Investment company directors have
failed as well in negotiating management fees .. .. fyouorl
were empowered, I can assure you that we could easily negotiate
materially lower management fees with the Incumbent managers of
most mrtual fimds. And, believe me, if directors were promised &
Eem—— - —— - —_ portion of any fes savings they realized, the skies would be filled
‘ ' with falling fees. Under the current system, though, reductions
mean nothing to "independent” directors while meaning everything
to mansgers. So guess who wios? . . . [IIn stepping up to [theix]
all-important responsibilities, tems of thousands of "independent"
directors, over more than six decades, have feiled misersbly.
(They've succeeded, however, in taking care of themselves; their
- fees from sarving on multple boards of a single "farnily" of funds
often run well into six figures.} 2002 Berkshire Hathaway, Inc
Anoual Report to Shareholders, p. 17— 18.

58.  Aspart of their scheme to receive excessive fees, Defendants did not keep the
.directors folly informed regarding all material facts and aspects of their fees and other
'compcnsaﬁo:u, and the directors failed to insist upon adequate information. For exampie:

a On information and belief, Defendants pro;vided virtually no

information to the directors regarding the advisory fees chargéd to pension and other
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instifutional clients or to. other mutual funds being advised or sub-advised by
Defendants. ‘ ‘
b. - On information apd belief, Dcfm;dams provided virtually no
. | information to the directors regarding the economies of scale enjoyed or fallout
i bepefits received by Defendants,
| c. On information and belief, the profitability data given to the board of
* directors provide no explanation as 10 howl’the board should evaluate economies of
scale and do not explain how fhe shareholders benefit from distribution plans.
d.  On information and belief, the board of directors of the Funds failed to
request and evaluate, and Defendants failed to provide, information reasonably
: : necessay 1o an iuformed determination of whether fhe Distribution Plans should have
been implemertted and whether they should be continued.
& On information and belief, the directors mly, if ever, question any
information of recotmendations provided by Defendants.
59. The foregoing assures that the directors do not upderstand Defepdants’ true
cost strocture smd, in particular, the economies of scale e:'gjoyed by them in providing
ix;vestmenx advisory services to the Funds and their msntuuonal and other clients. Nor do the

directors wnderstand the pature of the Distribution Plans and the benefits received by

Defendants, and lack of benefits received by Plaintiff and the other sharcholders, from the
Distribution Plans.

60. ©  On information and belief, the disimterested directors of the Funds have not
reseive the benefit of any measures to enhance their ability to act indepgndanqy, which has

caused the directors to be dependent on Defendants and has allowed Defendants to dominate
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and unduly influepce the directors. In addition, the directors’ failure to insist o adeciuare
| ~ information evinces a lack of care and conscientiousness on their part.
COUNTI
ICA §36(b)
BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY
* (Excessive Investment Advisory Fees)

61.  Plaintif repests and re-alleges each allegation contaimed in the foregoing
paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

6. The fees charged by Defendants for providing advisory services o the Funds
are and continue to be disproportionate to the services rendered and are not within the range
of what would have ‘been megotiated at am’s length in Lght of all the surrounding
circumstances, including the advisory fees that Defendamts chatge their other clients.

63. In charging and 1eceiving excessive or inappropﬁme compepsation, and in
failing to put the interests of Plaintiff and the other shareholders of the Funds ahead of their
own. interests, Defendants have breached and corntinue to breach their statutory fiduciary duty
fo Plaintiff in violation of ICA § 36(b). |

64.  Plaintiff secks, pursuant to § 36(b)(3) of the ICA, the “actual damages
resulting from the breach of fiduciary duty” by Defendants, up to and including, “the.amount .
of compensation or payments received from” the Funds.

COUNT XX
ICA §36(b)
BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY
(Excess Profits from Economies of Scale)
65.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each allegation contained in the foregoing

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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!. ' 66.  Defendents bave received and continue to recejve excess profits attributable 1o
extranrdmry ecoﬂomies of scale and, ironically, at least in part at Plaintiffs expense in the
8 form of payment of distribution fees benefiting only Defendants.

67. By retaining excess profits derived from economies of scale, Defendants have
breached and continue to breach their statutory Siduciary duty to Plaintiff in violation of ICA
§360). |

68.  Plaigtiff seeks, pursuant to § 36(b)(3) of the ICA, the “actual damages
-resulting from the breach of fiduciary duty” by Defendants, up to and including, the “amount .
of compensation or paymemts received from™ the Funds,

COUNTHI
BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY
ICA § 36(b)
(Excessive Rule 1Zb-1 Distribution fees and Extraction of
Additional Compensation for Advisory Services)

69.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each allegstion comtsined in the foregoing
paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein,

70.  The distribution fees charged and received by Defendants were designed to,
and did, extract additional compensation for Defendants’ advisory services in vielation of
Defendants’ ﬁducimy duty under § 36(b). - Although the distibution fees may have -

contributed to the growth in assets of the Funds, the resulting economies of scale benefited

onty Defendants, and not Plaintiff or the Fumds.
71. I fai]jng‘to pass along economies-of-scale benefits from the disttibution fees,
and in continuing to assess distribution fees pursitant to plans of distribution despite the fact

that po benefits inured to Plaintiff, Defendants have violated, and continue to- violate, the
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ICA and have breached and contimue to breach their statutory fiduciary duty to Plainiff in
violation of ICA § 36(b). "
72.  Pleintiff seeks, pursuant to § 36(b)3) of the' ICA, the “actual damages
resulting from the breach of fiduciary duty” by Defendants, up to and including, the “amount
of compensation or payments received from” the Funds,
COUNT IV
ICA § 12(b)
(Unlawfol Distribution Plans)
73.  Plaigtiff xepeats and re-alleges each allegation contained in the foregoing
paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
74.  Plsimiff and the ofher sharcholders in fhe Fumds each paid scrvice or

distribution fees to Defendants
75.  When Defendants first inftiated the Distrbution Plans, they represented that

. the distribution fees were being collected in order to, at least in part, grow the assets of the

Funds in order to reduce the cost to Plaintiff of providing advisory services. Only one of the

following alternatives could possibly have occurred:

a The Funds grew as & result of the payment of distribution fees and

miarket forces, in which case economies of scale were generated but not passed on to
Plamtiff or the Funds; or

b. The distribution fees did not contribute to economies of scale,
produced no other material benefits for Plaintiff anci the other shareholders of the

Funds, and should not have been approved or continued.
76.  Either way, Defendants bave violated § 12(b) of the ICA and Rule 12b-1, 17

C.F.R. §270.12b-1, by accepting excessive or inappropriate compensation in violation of the

25
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fiduciary duty owed by them to the Funds. Defexdants violation of § 12(b) and Rule 12b-1 is
continuing in natare, |
77.  Plaintiff seeks damages resulting from the adoption and contimiation of these

unlaxwful Distribution Plans. -

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment as follows:

a An order declating that Defendants have violated and continue to
violate § 12, § 36(b), and Rule 12b-1 of the ICA and that any ad‘visdry or distribution
apreements entered into are veid ab initio; |

b An order preliminadly and perranently enjoining Defendants from

- fucthser violatiops of the ICA; |

¢,  Anorder awarding damages against Defpdams including sll foes peid
to them by Plaintiff and the Funds for all periods not pmclud;ad by any applicable
statutes of Hmitation through the trial of this case, together with interest, costs,

- disbursements, attorneys’ fees, and such othet items as may be allowed to the

maximum extent permitted by law; and

d.  Such other and further relief as may be proper and just.

Dated: May 20, 2004 - é ; 8{ P M

Guy FBN 160501
Jomiathan 8. Coleman, FBN 797480
Becky Ferrell-Anton, FBN 449342
JOHNSON, POPE, BOKOR
RUPPEL & BURNS, LLP

100 North Tampa Street, Ste. 1800
Tsmps, FL. 33602

(813) 225-2500

Fex: (813)223-7118
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